
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 
 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

TUBA CITY REGIONAL ) 

HEALTH CARE CORPORATION ) 

 PLAINTIFF, ) 

  ) 

 v. )  Civil Action No. 13-639 RC-JMF 

 ) 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, et al. )  PLAINTIFF’S OPPOSITION TO 

DEFENDANTS. ) DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO  

   ) DISMISS 

  ) 

  ) 

 

OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO DISMISS AND MEMORANDUM OF 

POINTS AND AUTHORITIES IN SUPPORT THEREOF 

 

 Plaintiff Tuba City Regional Health Care Corporation (“Tuba City”), by and through its 

undersigned counsel, files this memorandum in opposition to the motion to dismiss, Dkt. #18, 

filed by Defendants.  For the reasons set forth in the memorandum below, Defendants’ motion 

should be denied.  

INTRODUCTION 

This case involves straightforward claims for breach of contract due to Defendants’ 

underpayment of contract support costs (“CSC”) and related damages on six annual contracts 

with Tuba City under the Indian Self-Determination and Education Assistance Act (“ISDEAA”).  

Tuba City properly submitted these claims to a contracting officer, who did not meet the 

statutory requirements for issuing a decision established in the Contract Dispute Act (“CDA”).  

The contracting officer’s failure to comply with the CDA, 41 U.S.C. § 7103(f)(2), allowed Tuba 

City to deem the claims denied, id. § 7103(f)(5), and vests this Court with subject matter 

jurisdiction.     
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  Defendants’ various arguments that a contracting officer has the freedom to repeatedly 

extend his period of review without providing a certain date for response are not supported by 

the facts or the statute.  The CDA requires that contracting officers respond to claims within 60 

days of receiving them.  41 U.S.C. § 7103(f)(2).  While the Act allows the contracting officer to 

specify, within this timeframe, the date by which he will issue a final decision on the claims, 

nothing in the Act allows him to grant himself multiple extensions in letters sent after the 60-day 

window.  The contracting officer in this case responded within the 60-day time frame that he 

anticipated he would issue decisions by March 16, 2013 and May 3, 2013.  When he 

subsequently announced he would not meet these dates and purported to grant himself more than 

a year to review the claims, Tuba City properly treated this violation of the CDA as a 

constructive denial of the claims.  41 U.S.C. § 7103(f)(5).  This court therefore has jurisdiction.  

See 25 U.S.C. § 450m-1(a) & (d). 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

 On a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(1), the plaintiff need only show by a 

preponderance of the evidence that the Court has subject matter jurisdiction.  Boland v. Fortis 

Constr. Co., LLC, 796 F. Supp. 2d 80, 86 (D.D.C. 2011).  In its review, the Court must accept all 

factual allegations in the complaint as true, and give plaintiff the benefit of all reasonable 

inferences from the facts alleged.  Trusted Integration Inc. v. United States, 679 F. Supp. 2d 70, 

75-76 (D.D.C. 2010) (citing Sparrow v. United Air Lines, Inc., 216 F.3d 1111, 1114 (D.C. Cir. 

2000)).   

BACKGROUND 

 The claims in this case arise from a long-standing dispute between the Indian Health 

Service (“IHS”) and the tribal healthcare providers who contract and compact with that agency to 
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carry out its responsibility to provide health services to American Indians and Alaska Natives.  

These providers, like Tuba City, enter into contracts with the IHS pursuant to the ISDEAA.  25 

U.S.C. § 450 et seq.  As part of its ISDEAA agreement, Tuba City is entitled to CSC funding to 

cover reasonable administrative and overhead costs associated with carrying out its contract 

duties.  See 25 U.S.C. § 450j-1(a)(2).   

Relying on congressionally imposed caps on the aggregate amount of CSC funding 

allocated to the agency, for many years IHS underfunded the amount of CSC owed to Tuba City 

and many other tribal contractors around the country.  The unpaid CSC resulting from this 

underfunding came to be known as CSC “shortfalls.”  Tribal contractors sued to recover these 

shortfalls, winning twice in the U.S. Supreme Court.  The most recent case, Salazar v. Ramah 

Navajo Chapter, 132 S. Ct. 2181 (2012), held that legislative caps on aggregate CSC spending 

limited the aggregate amount the agency could pay, but any contractor not paid in full could 

recover damages from the Judgment Fund in contract claims.
1
  After this decision settled 

uncertain law regarding CSC, many tribal contractors—like Tuba City—submitted claims for 

unpaid CSC. 

 Faced with many claims—and realizing that the Supreme Court left them with no legal 

defenses—the IHS quickly agreed that it would work to settle the CSC claims it was obligated to 

pay.  The IHS’s intentions and plan for settlement were announced in no less than five “Dear 

Tribal Leader” letters the IHS Director issued in the last year.  In her January 14, 2013 letter, Dr. 

Roubideaux clearly stated her agency’s intent to settle CSC claims quickly and efficiently: “The 

                                                 

1While Ramah involved ISDEAA contracts with the Bureau of Indian Affairs, the Federal Circuit 

Court of Appeals held that it applies equally to contracts with IHS.  Arctic Slope v. Sebelius, 501 

F. App’x. 957, 959 (Fed. Cir. 2012). 
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IHS wants to affirm its commitment to resolving Tribal claims for unpaid CSC in an efficient 

and mutually agreeable manner.”  Exh. A at 1 (Jan.14, 2013 Dear Tribal Leader Letter).   

In the same letter, after stating that the IHS’s goal was “to expedite the processing of 

claims,” the Director indicated that settlement funding would necessarily come from the United 

States Judgment Fund, due to insufficient IHS appropriations.  Id. at 2.  Citing the CDA and the 

Judgment Fund authorizing statute, Dr. Roubideaux went on to explain that no effective 

settlement could be finalized at the contracting officer level, but that “some appeal would be 

necessary,” referring to the Civilian Board of Contract Appeals (“CBCA”) or federal district 

courts.  Id. at 2.   

Dr. Roubideaux reiterated her commitment to efficiently settling CSC claims in a June 

2013 letter, stating, “the IHS continues to make progress and to prioritize the resolution of claims 

presented to the Agency in the most efficient manner and through settlement wherever possible.”  

Exh. B at 3 (June 12, 2013 Dear Tribal Leader Letter).   In a September 9, 2013 letter, Dr. 

Roubideaux acknowledged tribal concerns about the lack of progress on pending settlements, but 

said that the agency had taken steps to make the settlement process “more efficient moving 

forward[.]”  Exh. C at 1 (Sept. 9, 2013 Dear Tribal Leader Letter).   

 Despite IHS’s professed desire to settle all claims properly before the agency, Defendants 

in this case have not responded to a settlement offer from Tuba City dated May 29, 2013.  

Defendants agreed to a stay in this case in order to engage in document exchange and further 

settlement discussions, but now move to dismiss the case, in direct opposition to their own 

professed wish to pursue efficient and speedy settlement in CSC claims.  More importantly, as 

discussed below, the motion lacks any basis in the CDA.  
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STATEMENT OF FACTS 

 Tuba City executed annual funding agreements pursuant to the ISDEAA with HHS, 

through IHS, for fiscal years 2006 through 2011.  Tuba City claims IHS failed to pay the full 

amount of CSC for these years, in violation of the ISDEAA as interpreted by the U.S. Supreme 

Court.  As described in the complaint, CSC consists of a negotiated amount for “direct” CSC 

(primarily fringe benefit-type costs) plus indirect costs determined by multiplying a negotiated 

indirect cost rate by the direct cost base.  Compl., Dkt. No. 1, at ¶¶ 16-18. 

On September 17, 2012, Tuba City sent a letter to IHS contracting officer Frank Dayish 

detailing underpayments and damages for FY 2006 and explaining the theories on which those 

damages were premised.  See Def. Motion to Dismiss, Exh. 1 (Dkt. No. 18-2).  On November 5, 

2012, Tuba City sent five separate letters to IHS contracting officer Frank Dayish, detailing the 

claims for underpayment and damages for FY 2007-2011.  Id.  Each letter contained a signed 

certification as required by the CDA.  The total dollar amount of the claims in each letter 

exceeded $100,000.  Id.  Each letter contained a detailed spreadsheet explaining Tuba City’s 

claims broken down by theory, delineating Tuba City’s calculations, and providing notes 

explaining the sources and methods of those calculations.  Id. 

 The contracting officer responded to Tuba City’s September 17, 2012 letter for its FY 

2006 claims on November 16, 2012.  This letter stated, “I anticipate that I will issue a final 

contracting officer’s decision by March 16, 2013.”  See Def. Motion to Dismiss, Exh. 2 (Dkt. 

No. 18-3).  On January 2, 2013, the contracting officer responded to Tuba City’s November 5, 

2012 claims with five identical form letters requesting certain additional information from Tuba 

City in support of its claims, and stating “If you submit sufficient information to issue a final 

decision on your claims as requested above, the IHS anticipates that it will issue a final decision 
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on the claims by May 3, 2013.”  See Def. Motion to Dismiss, Exhs. 3-7 (Dkt. Nos. 18-4 – 18-8).   

Only the November 16, 2012 letter and the January 2, 2013 letter were sent within 60 days of 

receipt of their respective claim letters. 

 Defendants assert in their motion that Tuba City did not respond to the January 2, 2013 

requests for documents.  Def. Motion to Dismiss at 6.  These assertions are false.  In fact, Tuba 

City did respond to these requests.  On January 25, 2013, Tuba City responded directly to 

Contracting Officer Frank Dayish with two detailed letters explaining that he was requesting 

information already in his possession, namely the contracts and annual funding agreements, the 

indirect cost rate agreements, and associated documents.  See Exhs. D and E (Jan. 25, 2013 

Letters to Frank Dayish).  The January 25, 2013 letters reiterated that Tuba City’s claims were 

for breach of contract based on the failure of IHS to pay the full CSC owed under the contract.  

See Exhs. D and E.  The letters explained that because the claims were for the established 

contract amount, and because the contracts were not cost-reimbursable contracts, much of the 

requested documentation was irrelevant to the claims and the rest already was, or should have 

been, in the agency’s possession.
2
  Additionally, these letters explained the theories on which the 

damages claims were based, and the method of calculating related damages.  Tuba City’s counsel 

received a return receipt for these letters by both mail and facsimile.  Exh. F (Proof of Delivery 

for Jan. 25, 2013 Letters).   

                                                 

2
 This issue of whether damages related to CSC should be calculated based on a retroactive 

analysis of costs incurred or on the award documents during the time of performance is a legal 

dispute between tribes and the IHS.  Despite Defendant’s argument throughout its motion that 

the contracting officer could not act until Tuba City provided additional documents, they are 

neither necessary nor relevant to the contract claims presented.  Moreover, these documents are 

irrelevant to the question of jurisdiction in the present motion. 
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The IHS did not respond to these letters.  Instead, the IHS contracting officer sent a letter 

to Tuba City on February 11, 2013 in reference to Tuba City’s September 17, 2012 claim for FY 

2006.  See Def. Motion to Dismiss, Exh. 8 (Dkt. No. 18-9).  The contracting officer purported to 

grant himself a second extension of the deadline for deciding the FY 2006 claim, from March 16, 

2013 to May 3, 2013: “The IHS anticipates that it will issue a final contracting officer’s decision 

by May 3, 2013.”  Id.  This letter was sent to Tuba City more than 140 days after the claim was 

filed.   

 On April 26, 2013, the IHS contracting officer sent yet another letter to Tuba City.  See 

Def. Motion to Dismiss Exh. 9 (Dkt. No. 18-10).   In this letter, the contracting officer purported 

to grant himself a third extension for the FY 2006 claims, and a second extension for the FY 

2007-2011 claims.  Id at 1.  The letter again requested information and documents that Tuba City 

had already declined to submit as irrelevant.  Id. at 2; see also Def. Motion to Dismiss at 6 

(listing information requested).  Like all previous letters, this letter contained the rote 

explanation that “IHS has not had an opportunity to adequately review and make a final decision 

on your claims for a variety of reasons, including the size, complexity, age, and lack of 

specificity of your claim, and the inadequacy of supporting documentation submitted with the 

claim.”  See Def. Motion to Dismiss Exh. 9 at 1 (Dkt. No. 18-10).  The letter then stated, “In 

consideration of these factors, I anticipate that I will issue a final contracting officer’s decision 

by October 22, 2013.”  Id.  This letter was sent to Tuba City more than seven months after it 

filed its FY 2006 claim, and nearly six months after it filed its FY 2007-2011 claims.   

 A week after the April 26 letters were issued, Tuba City filed this action on May 3, 2013.  

Shortly thereafter, Tuba City made an offer of settlement to Defendant, concurrent with a request 

to stay this case in order to discuss that settlement.  Defendants agreed to the stay, Dkt. No. 14, 
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which was granted on June 7, 2013.  This stay expired on September 4, 2013, and Defendants 

filed their motion to dismiss on September 5, 2013. 

ARGUMENT 

1. Tuba City’s CDA Claims Were Properly Deemed Denied When IHS Failed to Issue 

a Decision Within the Required Time. 

 

Tuba City properly deemed that the IHS contracting officer denied its claims because the 

contracting officer did not issue a final decision within sixty days of receiving Tuba City’s 

claims, or by the extended date identified within those sixty days.  The CDA states:  

A contracting officer shall, within sixty days of receipt of a submitted 

certified claim over $100,000:  

(A) Issue a decision; or 

(B) Notify the contractor of the time within which a decision will be 

issued. 

 

41 U.S.C. § 7103(f)(2).  The plain language makes clear that a contracting officer can properly 

extend the deadline beyond 60 days, but only if he does so within 60 days of receiving a claim.  

SCM Corp. v. United States, 225 Ct. Cl. 647, 648-49 (1980) (“Under the Act, [the time for a 

written decision] can be extended if, within the sixty days, the contracting officer notified the 

contractor of the additional time within which a decision will be issued.”); Logicvision, Inc. v. 

United States, 54 Fed. Cl. 549, 551 (2002) (“The CO's failure to issue a final decision within a 

60-day period after receiving the claim or, within that period, to ‘notify’ the contractor of when a 

delayed final decision will be issued, is ‘deemed’ to be a denial of the claim, permitting 

immediate commencement of suit . . . .”) (emphasis in original).   

The law further provides that, “Failure by a contracting officer to issue a decision on a 

claim within the required time period is deemed to be a decision by the contracting officer 

denying the claim and authorizes an appeal or action on the claim . . . .”  41 U.S.C. § 7103(f)(5).  
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Thus, if a contracting officer fails to issue a decision within a time period properly set during the 

60-day window, he may be deemed, at the contractor’s discretion, to have denied the claims.  

 The Court of Federal Claims has addressed this issue explicitly, and found that a 

contracting officer may only set a future date for a decision if he does so within the initial 60-day 

window.  In considering whether a contracting officer’s language initially extending a period for 

review was adequate to provide a contractor with sufficient notice, the court considered the 

ability of a contracting officer to extend their own deadlines.  Considering § 7103(f)(2)’s 

analogue in the previous code, 41 U.S.C. § 605(c)(2), the Court held: 

The structure of § 605(c)(2) shows that the “within sixty days” language applies 

to subparts (A) and (B).  Moreover, the use of the word “will” seems to contradict 

any good faith exception to subpart (B).  Accordingly, although a contracting 

officer may choose not to treat a further extension of the due date as a deemed 

decision, § 605(c)(2) permits a contractor to treat the passage of the due date 

specified in the initial sixty days as a deemed decision even if the contracting 

officer attempts to further extend the due date. 

 

Claude E. Atkins Enterprises, Inc. v. U.S., 27 Fed. Cl. 142, 145 (1992).  Like the contractor in 

Atkins, Tuba City was not required to acquiesce in IHS’s repeated extensions of the decision 

dates, and could choose instead to deem its claims denied.   

As Defendants point out, the contracting officer is allowed to grant himself a “reasonable 

time” for consideration of its claims.  However, Defendant’s assertion that the contracting officer 

can issue “reasonable extension[s]” even after the initial 60 days and therefore defer indefinitely 

Tuba City’s appeal rights (Def. Motion to Dismiss at 11) contravenes the plain language of the 

statute, as the cases discussed above recognized.  The contracting officer can announce a new 

self-imposed deadline after the initial sixty days has elapsed, but if he does, the contractor may 

elect to treat the passage of the initial deadline as a deemed denial in order to exercise the appeal 

rights provided by the statute.  Atkins, 27 Fed. Cl. at 145. 
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  Given that the IHS clearly stated it would not issue final decisions within its initial 

timeframe; that no final decision came within that timeframe; and that the law “permits a 

contractor to treat the passage of the due dates specified in the initial sixty days as a deemed 

decision,” id., Tuba City properly deemed the IHS’s failure to respond as a denial of its claims.  

Accordingly, the appeal to this Court was proper, and the Court has subject matter jurisdiction to 

hear this case.  Defendant’s motion to dismiss should be denied.   

2. Tuba City’s Claim is Proper Because Defendants’ Notice to Tuba City of a Date 

Certain by Which a Final Decision Would Be Issued was Inadequate. 

 

IHS also violated the notice requirement of the CDA by failing to set a date certain by 

which it would issue a final decision in the first place.  A CDA claim is ripe for appeal after sixty 

days of its receipt by a contracting officer, even if the contracting officer has responded to the 

contractor, but has done so without supplying a certain date for its decision.  See Orbas & 

Assocs. v. United States, 26 Cl. Ct. 647 (1992); Atkins, 27 Fed. Cl. 144-46.  Even the IHS’s 

initial purported extensions of time, which “anticipated” but did not promise a final decision by 

March 16, 2013 (for the 2006 claim) and May 3, 2013 (for the remaining claims), therefore 

failed to operate as valid extensions, and Tuba City was permitted to deem the claims denied.  

Def. Motion to Dismiss, Exhs 2 (Dkt. No. 18-3) and 3-7 (Dkt. Nos. 18-4 – 18-8).  The same is 

true of IHS’s subsequent purported extensions, which contained the same language.  Def. Motion 

to Dismiss, Exhs. 8 & 9 (Dkt. No. 18-9 & 18-10). 

In Orbas & Associates v. United States, 26 Cl. Ct. 647 (1992), the Claims Court ruled 

that an extension of time to consider a claim was invalid if it was too vague or indefinite for the 

contractor to discern when the decision would be issued.  In that case, a contractor submitted a 

CDA claim to his contracting officer on January 15, 1990.  The contracting officer responded 

within 60 days on March 1, 1990, stating that the contractor “should not expect a final decision 
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prior to 30 June 1990” as long as he agreed to provide information requested by the officer to 

complete the claim.  Id. at 649.  The court considered the language of the CDA that required the 

contracting officer to notify a contractor of “the time within which a decision will be issued” (41 

U.S.C. § 7103(f)(2)(B), previously codified at 41 U.S.C. § 602(c)(2)(B)) and found that “If the 

phrase ‘within’ puts any constraints on the CO, it must mean that the contractor is to be informed 

of the outside date by which it is estimated that a decision will be issued.”  Id. at 650.   Applying 

this constraint, the court found that the phrase “you should not expect a final decision prior to 30 

June 1990” to be too open-ended to adequately notify the contractor of the date of the decision.  

Id.  It held that the contractor properly brought his claim, and that the court had subject matter 

jurisdiction to hear the case.  Id. 

The court in Atkins reached the same ruling on similar facts.  In that case, the contracting 

officer responded to the claimant that “you should not expect a final decision until November 30, 

1992.”  27 Fed. Cl. At 144-45.  The court held that this statement was functionally identical to 

that considered in Orbas, and thus lacked the certainty required to give the contractor sufficient 

notice of when a final decision would be issued.  Id. at 144.  Further, the contracting officer in 

Atkins had stated: “If for some reason this date cannot be met, you will be advised.” Id. at 145.  

Citing Boeing Co. v United States, 26 Cl. Ct. 257 (1992), the Court found that this language was 

inadequate because it did not obligate the officer to issue a final decision by a date certain.  

Atkins, 27 Fed. Cl. at 145.  Similarly, the Boeing court held that other qualifying language—“I 

will endeavor to respond to you … by 13 Mar 92, or if unable to respond by that time, I will 

advise you by 13 Mar 92 when I will respond”—evinced a lack of commitment by the 

contracting officer to issue a decision by a time discernible to the contractor.  Boeing, 26 Cl. Ct. 

at 259.  The Atkins court held that “any suggestion that the contracting officer may further extend 
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the due date indicates a failure by the contracting officer to commit, within the initial sixty days, 

to a particular due date.”  Atkins, 27 Fed. Cl. at 145-46. 

Like in Orbas, the IHS contracting officer’s language in this case purporting to extend 

the date to issue a final decision is too vague and noncommittal to have legal effect.  In his first 

response, the contracting officer stated “I anticipate that I will issue a final contracting officer’s 

decision by March 16, 2013.”  Def. Motion to Dismiss, Exh. 2 (Dkt. No. 18-3).  The officer uses 

“anticipate” in each of his letters to Tuba City.  See Def. Motion to Dismiss, Exh. 2-9 (Dkt. Nos. 

18-3 – 18-10).  By including this word, he removes the certainty required by the statute (which 

calls for a time “within which a decision will be issued,” 41 U.S.C. 7103(f)(2)(B)), and inserts a 

subjective element that leaves the actual decision date up to the contracting officer’s best guess.  

Like the contracting officer in Orbas, who directed the contractor that he “should not expect a 

final decision” prior to the stated date, the IHS’s modifier that it merely “anticipates” a decision 

date is an impermissible hedging tactic that prevents Tuba City from discerning the actual 

decision date.  “The contractor must be able to look at a calendar and know when the decision is 

late.”  Orbas, 26 Cl. Ct. at 650.  Tuba City was left with a suggestion of a date in this case, but 

nothing more.  Accordingly, the language of the contracting officer’s response letters was 

impermissibly vague, and Tuba City’s claims ripened for appeal after the initial sixty day 

period—well before the May 3, 2013 filing date of this case. 

Further, IHS’s initial response to the 2007-2011 claims conditioned its (anticipated) 

decision date upon Tuba City providing a laundry list of additional documentation: “If you 

submit sufficient information . . .  IHS anticipates it will issue a final decision on the claims by 

May 3, 2013.”  Def. Motion to Dismiss, Exhs. 3-7, at 2 (Dkt. Nos. 18-4 –18 -8).  The CDA 

requires IHS to specify, within 60 days, the date by which it “will” issue a decision, not the date 
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by which it may issue a decision if the contractor meets agency-imposed conditions.  “[A]ny 

suggestion that the contracting officer may further extend the due date indicates a failure by the 

contracting officer to commit, within the initial sixty days, to a particular due date.”  Atkins, 27 

Fed. Cl. at 145-46.  See also, Boeing, 26 Cl. Ct. at 259-60.  By “anticipating” rather than 

promising a particular date for a decision, conditioning the anticipated date on compliance with 

additional agency demands, and by actually changing the anticipated date, the IHS failed to 

commit to a particular due date as required by the CDA.  Accordingly, the claims were properly 

deemed denied, this Court has jurisdiction, and the Defendants’ motion should be denied. 

3. Defendants’ Excuses for Failing to Issue Decisions within the Statutory Period Lack 

any Basis in the CDA. 

 

The CDA provides no exception to the § 7103(f) timing requirements for claims that the 

contracting officer subsequently determines to be insufficiently supported by documentation.
3
  

Orbas, 26 Cl. Ct. at 650 n.3.   If the contracting officer believes the claims are unsupported at the 

time a final decision is required to be made, the contracting officer may deny the claims.  

Alternatively, the contracting officer may abstain from issuing a decision and allow the 

contractor to deem the claim denied and seek an appeal.  These were the statutory options 

available to the IHS when Tuba City submitted its claims, and their requests for further 

information are therefore irrelevant to the question of this Court’s jurisdiction.    In any event, 

the claim letters that Tuba City submitted to the contracting officers were properly detailed and 

documented, and they provided the officers with a sufficient basis on which to issue a decision.   

                                                 

3
 Though a contracting officer may consider the adequacy of information provided with the claim 

in determining whether and how long to extend the time to issue a decision, the contracting 
officer must make that determination within the initial sixty days and must then issue the 
decision by the stated date.   
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In Orbas, the Court of Claims specifically noted that a request for documentation does 

not relieve the contracting officer from complying with statutory deadlines.  There, the 

contracting officer conditioned his final decision date on the plaintiff furnishing certain 

information not included in the original claim, stating: “In the event [that] you have already or 

soon will provide the requisite information with appropriate certifications, you should not expect 

a final decision prior to 30 June 1990 due to the complexity of the claims already under review.”  

Orbas, 26 Cl. Ct. 647, 649 (1992) (modifications in original) (emphasis added).  Orbas felt the 

request was unnecessary.  Id. at 650 n.3.  Though the court had other grounds to hold that the 

claim was properly deemed denied in that case, it nevertheless stated that “[a]lthough the CO 

may ask for information to supplement a claim, in the absence of some understanding with the 

plaintiff that it will defer filing a complaint, the CO must still comply with § 605(c)(2).”  Id.   

Like in Orbas, Tuba City never agreed to wait to file a complaint.  Nor did Tuba City 

agree that the requested information was necessary.  Accordingly, nothing absolved the 

contracting officer from his duty to timely issue a decision in this case.  It is patently clear that 

the contracting officer had an option if he felt Tuba City’s supporting documentation was 

insufficient: he could deny the claim.  Instead he issued no decision, and thus this claim is ready 

for appeal on a deemed denial.   

In any event, the documentation submitted with Tuba City’s claims was sufficient to 

support those claims and provided an adequate basis upon which to render a decision.  Because 

Tuba City’s claims were breach of contract claims, the only required information was the amount 

IHS owed on the contracts and the amount IHS had paid on the contracts.  This information can 

be determined from the contracts themselves and any modifications to the contracts, Tuba City’s 

annual Funding Agreements, indirect cost agreements, and the IHS’s own CSC shortfall reports 
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submitted annually to Congress.
4
  Accordingly, Tuba City responded to the contracting officer’s 

request for further documentation by reiterating that its claims were supported by those 

documents, which were already in the agency’s possession or to which the agency had access.  

Exhs D and E (Jan. 25, 2013 Letters to Frank Dayish).   

Aside from the contractual agreements already available to IHS, the additional requests 

were unnecessary and irrelevant to deciding the claims.  See, e.g., Exh. D at 1 (Jan. 25, 2013 

Letter to Frank Dayish).  As Tuba City explained in its response to IHS, the requested 

information is only relevant to the IHS’s purported substantive theory that ISDEAA tribal 

contractors are entitled only to damages on a “cost incurred” basis.  Id.   Because ISDEAA 

contracts are not cost-reimbursable contracts, but rather require the agreed-on funding to be paid 

up front, Tuba City informed IHS in its January letters that it disagreed with the legal basis of 

IHS’s document demands, and that no more documents would be provided.  Id.  At that point 

IHS was free to deny the claims—but not to indefinitely delay its decisions, and Tuba City’s 

appeal rights, on the basis that Tuba City did not present what IHS considers to be the proper 

type of evidence given its self-constructed legal theory of damages.  

Regardless of the Parties’ differing legal theories, Tuba City’s submitted claim plainly 

met the legal requirements for stating a claim as laid out in case law.  As the Federal Circuit 

stated in Contract Cleaning Maintenance, Inc. v. United States: 

We know of no requirement in the [CDA] that a "claim" must be submitted in any 

particular form or use any particular wording. All that is required is that the 

contractor submit in writing to the contracting officer a clear and unequivocal 

statement that gives the contracting officer adequate notice of the basis and 

amount of the claim. 

 

                                                 

4
 See 25 U.S.C. § 450j-1(c) (requiring annual CSC report); Complaint (Dkt. No. 1), ¶ 18 & ¶ 25. 
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811 F.2d 586, 592 (Fed. Cir. 1987) (citing Tecom, Inc. v. United States, 732 F.2d 935, 936-37 

(Fed. Cir. 1984); Metric Constr. Co. v. United States, 1 Cl. Ct. 383, 392 (1983)).  See also M. 

Maropakis Carpentry, Inc. v. United States, 609 F.3d 1323, 1327 (Fed. Cir. 2010) (citing 

Contract Cleaning, 811 F.2d at 592).  This Court has held the same with regard to CDA claims 

under the ISDEAA: “The requirement that the contractor provide notice of the amount of the 

claim means only that the amount claimed must be stated in a manner which allows for 

reasonable determination of the recovery available at the time the claim is presented and/or 

decided by the contracting officer.”   Tunica-Biloxi Tribe of La. v. United States, 577 F. Supp. 2d 

382, 410 (D.D.C. 2008) (citing Metric, 1 Cl. Ct. at 391) (internal quotations omitted) (upholding 

Ramah Navajo School Board’s CDA claims in the face of a motion to dismiss for failure to 

specify specific amounts under each asserted theory). 

 This court denied the United States’ motion to dismiss Ramah Navajo School Board’s 

CDA claims, finding that Ramah’s claim letters met the liberal standard above.  This Court noted 

that Ramah’s letters “delineate[d] three separate claims against the IHS for each fiscal year 

between 1999 and 2003 . . . . Attached to this letter is a three-page spreadsheet delineating the 

damages suffered by Ramah Navajo with respect to each of the fiscal years addressed in the 

letter.”  Tunica-Biloxi, 577 F. Supp. 2d at 410.  While noting that the tribe’s spreadsheet was 

“hardly a model of clarity,” the Court nonetheless found that it provided “sufficient information 

for a reviewing agency like the IHS to calculate the damages alleged for each claim through 

‘simple arithmetic.’”  Id.  Tuba City’s letters similarly delineate and explain its theories.  See, 

e.g., Def. Motion to Dismiss, Exh. 1 (Dkt. No. 18-2) (explaining each of four theories of 

recovery, the amounts of each, and how each is calculated).  Tuba City also attached a 

spreadsheet to each claim, which details the claim amounts for each year broken out by theory of 
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recovery, contains the numbers used to figure each theory’s claims, and provides a narrative 

describing each amount’s source document and calculation, if necessary.  See, e.g., id.  Notably, 

Tuba City bases many of its calculations on the IHS’s own shortfall reports that it submits to 

Congress each year.  Like Ramah’s claims in the Tunica-Biloxi case, Tuba City’s are clearly 

“adequate to place the IHS on notice as to the nature and scope of the claims against it.”  Tunica-

Biloxi, 577 F. Supp. 2d at 410.   The CDA requires no more, IHS’s request for extraneous 

documents notwithstanding. 

4. Defendants’ Purported Extensions Are Not Reasonable as Required by 41 U.S.C. § 

7103(f). 

 

Though a contracting officer may choose to notify the contractor of the time within which 

a decision will be issued, the decision “shall be issued within a reasonable amount of time, in 

accordance with regulations prescribed by the agency, taking into account such factors as the 

size and complexity of the claim and the adequacy of information in support of the claim 

provided by the contractor.”  41 U.S.C. § 7103(f)(3).  Though Defendants argue to the contrary, 

(Defs. Motion to Dismiss at 11 n.3) Tuba City’s claims are not particularly complex.  The claims 

for CSC shortfalls and the claims for indirect costs on unpaid direct CSC are based primarily on 

the IHS’s own shortfall reports, which have already been prepared by the IHS itself, certified as 

accurate, and submitted to Congress.  See, e.g., Exh. D at 2 (Jan. 25, 2013 Letter to Frank 

Dayish).  The miscalculated rate claims involve recalculating the rate of indirect costs paid to 

Tuba City—by simply removing non-paying agencies from the direct cost base.  See Complaint 

(Dkt. No. 1), ¶¶ 30-32.  Finally, the lost third-party revenues are determined by a simple 

mathematical formula that applies an identified collection rate to the CSC shortfall amount.  Id., 

¶¶ 33-34.  All of this was explained to IHS twice before Tuba City filed suit: first in the claim 

letters themselves, and again in the January letters.   
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Moreover, Tuba City’s claims are not novel or unfamiliar to the IHS.  Indeed, as 

acknowledged in the Director’s Dear Tribal Leader Letters, IHS has been handling a large 

volume of these claims since the Supreme Court’s decision in Ramah.  See Exh. A at 2 (Jan. 14, 

2013 Dear Tribal Leader Letter); Exh. B at 3 (June 12, 2013 Dear Tribal Leader Letter); Exh. C 

at 1 (Sept. 9, 2013 Dear Tribal Leader Letter).  IHS is accordingly familiar with the nature and 

methodologies of these claims.  In fact, IHS Director Roubideaux touts that the Agency has 

already been settling similar claims with other tribal contractors.  Exh. G at 2 (March 26, 2013 

Dear Tribal Leader Letter).  IHS’ ability to settle similar claims with other Tribes underscores 

that the Agency is familiar with these claims and they are neither so complex nor so novel that 

the Agency could not handle Tuba City’s claims within the CDA’s timeframes as well – whether 

that results in an award or a denial of Tuba City’s claims as documented and submitted. 

All parties agree that settlement of these claims requires an appeal in order to access the 

Judgment Fund to pay the claims.  See, e.g., Exh. A at 2 (Jan. 14, 2013 Dear Tribal Leader 

Letter).  It is therefore unreasonable for IHS to continue its attempts to extend the deadline for a 

final decision on Tuba City’s claims, holding hostage Tuba City’s appeal rights and preventing 

the Parties from beginning meaningful settlement discussions on those claims.  This case was 

properly brought, has been referred to mediation, and is on track toward the resolution IHS has 

stated it prefers: settlement.  Dismissing this case without prejudice—as precedent dictates, see 

Tidewater Contractors, Inc. v. United States, 107 Fed. Cl. 779, 786 (2012)—as the IHS has 

proposed here will only delay Tuba City’s reappearance before this Court, and require parties to 

spend extra time and money duplicating the procedural steps and requirements to reach the point 

we sit at now: poised to negotiate settlement.   

 

Case 1:13-cv-00639-RC   Document 19   Filed 09/18/13   Page 18 of 20



- 19 - 

5. The Court Should Order the Contracting Officer to Issue a Final Decision by 

October 22, 2013. 

 

The CDA allows a contractor to request that the court direct the contracting officer to 

issue a decision within a specified period of time.  41 U.S.C. § 7103(f)(4).
5
  Tuba City requests 

that the Court direct the IHS contracting officer to issue final decisions on all the claims by 

October 22, 2013—the revised deadline specified in his letters of April 26, 2013.  The Court has 

referred this case to Magistrate Judge Facciola for mediation, and Tuba City believes that agency 

decisions on these claims could advance the mediation process by clarifying the issues on which 

the parties agree and disagree.   

CONCLUSION 

 For the reasons set out above, Tuba City hereby requests that the Court deny Defendants’ 

motion to dismiss Tuba City’s complaint and instead direct the contracting officer to issue a final 

decision on Tuba City’s claims. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                 

5
 The court may, on its own, direct the contracting officer to issue a final decision where, as here, 

the contracting officer has failed to do so within the required time.  41 U.S.C. § 7103(f)(5). 

Case 1:13-cv-00639-RC   Document 19   Filed 09/18/13   Page 19 of 20



- 20 - 

Respectfully Submitted, 

  s/ Caroline Mayhew     

Elliott A. Milhollin (DC Bar No. 474322) 

Caroline Mayhew (DC Bar No. 1011766) 

Hobbs, Straus, Dean, & Walker LLP 

2120 L St. NW, Suite 700 

Washington, DC  20037 

202-822-8282 (Tel.) 

202-296-8834 (Fax)  

Geoffrey D. Strommer, pro hac vice  

Hobbs, Straus, Dean & Walker, LLP    

806 SW Broadway, Suite 900     

Portland, OR 97205      

503-242-1745 (Tel.)      

503-242-1072 (Fax)  

 

R. Gehl Tucker, pro hac vice  

Hufford, Horstman, Mongini, Parnell & Tucker 

120 N Beaver St. 

Flagstaff, AZ  86001 

(928) 226-0000 (Tel.) 

(928) 779-3621 (Fax) 

 

Attorneys for Tuba City Regional Health Care 

Corporation. 

 

DATED: September 18, 2013. 

Case 1:13-cv-00639-RC   Document 19   Filed 09/18/13   Page 20 of 20


